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Introduction

Cleethorpes is a thriving seaside resort catering for long stay visitors and also welcoming a
regular stream of “day trip” visitors, throughout the year.

Cleethorpes owes a major part of its foundation to the coming of the Manchester Sheffield
& Lincolnshire Railway (MS&LR), who invested in the town in 1863 by building a small
station for visitors to the coast. Increasing visitor numbers necessitated the expansion of
the station in 1880-81, and then the MS&LR invested in the building of a substantial Sea
Wall and promenade in 1884. They invested further in the resort by acquiring the pier,
which had been built by a company associated with the MS&LR in 1872.

This paper describes the building of the railway from Grimsby to Cleethorpes in 1863, the
significant expansion of the railway in 1880 and then the building of the 3685ft long sea wall
from west of the station to what is now known as Brighton Street Slipway.

The MS&LR invested the equivalent of £12m pounds in Cleethorpes in today’s valuation.

The driving force behind these developments was Sir Edward Watkin, general manager of
the MS&LR (1854-1861) and later chairman of the MS&LR (1864-1894). He was a quite
remarkable Victorian entrepreneur, who was responsible for many railway projects in the
UK and beyond. He was a man of extraordinary vision.

Background

In the 1830’s, the area of northern Lincolnshire running towards the mouth of the river
Humber, inhabited by Cleethorpes and Great Grimsby, was in a poor state. The MS&LR
recognised the opportunity to invest in the area and this in turn initiated the creation of the
towns of Grimsby and Cleethorpes as we know them today. The railway had reached
Grimsby by 1848, with the attraction of the prospect of supplying new markets with fish
from Grimsby, serving the capital and the midlands. The docks at Grimsby were further
developed through to 1880 and beyond, and it became a thriving commercial and fishing
port.

Cleethorpes was also developing as a seaside resort during this time, but with no rail
connection, trains would bring large numbers of visitors to the closest place, Grimsby Docks
station. From the station, visitors would walk or travel by coach to Cleethorpes, often in
processions lead by bands.

The MS&LR, under the leadership of Edward Watkin, recognised the potential offered to the
railway by Cleethorpes and plans were put in place to extend the railway from Grimsby to
Cleethorpes. Unlike most seaside resorts the railway is built along the shore line,
terminating in a station right alongside the beach.



The MS&LR became the Great Central Railway in 1897, when it was decided to focus on
building the “extension” from Manchester to London, with sights on reaching Paris via a
channel tunnel.

The Great Central Railway’s Official Album made this interesting comment about
Cleethorpes;

“Beyond Grimsby the line has been pushed to Cleethorpes, a village once inhabited by a few
fishermen only in winter, but now changed by a unique effort of railway enterprise into the
most crowded watering place in Lincolnshire. It is almost entirely the property of the Great
Central Railway, who have built there, a massive Sea Wall 65ft wide, the inner side of which
is a broad carriage drive, divided from the promenade by a dwarf wall. A pier, a switchback,
public gardens, and other places of amusements, have been built by the enterprise of the
company, and in summer the town is thronged with excursionists from Yorkshire, Lancashire
and the Midlands”

The railway was opened in 1863 as a single line, however, such was the popularity of this
extension, that it required doubling of the line in 1873 and expansion of the railway station
at Cleethorpes in 1880. Further to the building of the railway, the MS&LR also invested
substantially in the amenities at Cleethorpes in 1884, by building a Sea Wall and
promenade, the pier gardens and taking ownership of the pier.

Overview of paper

This paper concentrates upon the development of Cleethorpes in three sections. Firstly, the
construction of the railway from Grimsby to Cleethorpes and construction of the first
Cleethorpes station on Platform 1 (now known as “The No.1”); secondly, the expansion of
the railway following lack of capacity of the initial railway; finally, the construction of the
3685 ft long Sea Wall and promenade both west and east from the station .

The document is mainly sourced from Archives of the MS&LR in both the National Archive in
Kew and the Lincolnshire Archives in Lincoln.



Part 1- The building of the Cleethorpes branch in 1863 and 1873

References are made to the documents LDP/1/73 (1856), LDP/1/77 (1860) and LDP/1/120
(1873) (Further Powers), MS&LR, Grimsby to Cleethorpes Branch, Plans and Sections, in
Lincolnshire Archives.

Various routes through the East Marsh area of Grimsby were considered and discussed with
landowners, until the final route was selected, running to the north of the town and closely
following the alignment of the river Humber. See figure 3. A single line was built, with a
station at Cleethorpes. Figures 4, 5, and 6 show the 2 miles 2 furlong outline of the route.
Figure 8 shows the plan for the lines and station at Cleethorpes. However, this is believed
to be the station plan after the line was doubled in 1873. Note the provision of a turntable
to turn the engines before returning back to their destination.

The archive LDP/1/73 refers to;

“A railway to commence in the parish of Great Grimsby in the parts of Lindsey in the County
of Lincoln, by a junction with the Manchester and Sheffield and Lincolnshire Railway, at or
near their Pumping Engine adjoining the principal entrance gates to their dock called the
Royal Dock, and to terminate in the township of Cleethorpes and parish of Clee, in the said
parts of Lindsey and County of Lincoln, in a field there called Beacon Field, in the occupation
of Thomas Willerton, which last mentioned intended railway will pass from, in, through, or
into, or be situate within the several parishes, townships and extra-parochial or other places
of Great Grimsby, Clee and Cleethorpes, or some of them in the parts of Lindsey and County
of Lincoln.”

For this initial route the line of the railway curves around from the MS&LR docks line, before
running in a relatively straight line to Cleethorpes station. This route was subsequently
changed as the fishing docks were extended and the line moved further inland with a series
of reverse curves. The railway passes through several parcels of land, with the planning
document quoting the ownership of each, with familiar names (to locals) such as Alexander
Grant Thorold (there is a Grant Thorold Park in Grimsby); the Churchwardens and overseers
of the poor of the Parish of Clee; The Master Fellows and Scholars of Lady Frances Sidney
Sussex College, Cambridge; Robert Suggitt (there is still a Suggitts Lane off Grimsby Road).

The line runs close to the seashore for a large part of its length and terminates adjacent to
the promenade and beach. Not many seaside railways stations are in such a unique
position, with the station being right alongside the promenade. As Figure 5 shows, the track
layout for the first station at Cleethorpes was a relatively simple affair, with a single
platform and a run round loop. There was a turntable at the east end of the platform and a
single siding. The station building itself, built in 1863, was much more substantial, especially
given the initial single platform and is still more or less intact today as it was.



Figure 1: Above photograph shows the platform side of the station in 2023, with the
addition of a small extension over the original entrance with five arched windows and two
doors. On the far left can be seen the base for the water tank for replenishing locomotives.

Figure 2: This photograph shows the road side of Cleethorpes station in its condition in

October 2023. Note the original main entrance on the left of the picture, with its roof lights.
Unfortunately the cycle hub has not proved to be a profitable business, but the buildings to
the right house the “No.1” Public House which is a thriving enterprise, which supports the
origins of the building. The local Cleethorpes Great Central Society, meet every month in
the “back room”, which contains some railway artefacts and documents.

The line to Cleethorpes was approved by the Board of Trade on 27" March 1863, as referred
to in the document, which can be found in Appendix I.



Figure 3: Proposed routes
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Grimsby to Cleethorpes potential routes plan 1863 — from Lincolnshire Archives

Figure 4: Overview of chosen route — LDP/1/73 Maps 1856
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Figure 6: Second section of route — LDP/1/73 Maps 1856
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Part 2- The extension of the Cleethorpes branch in 1880

References are made to the document LDP/1/139, (1880), MS&LR, New Works, Grimsby to
Cleethorpes, in Lincolnshire Archives

The extension of the railway into Cleethorpes proved to be very successful amidst the
growing passion to visit seaside resorts in the Victorian age. It soon became clear that the
single line into Cleethorpes and the single platform were incapable of coping with the large
numbers of people wanting to access the resort. Watkin and the MS&LR were clearly
correct in their vision of the potential of Cleethorpes as a resort.

In the 1890’s it was claimed that on one Saturday 30,000 people visited by train on one day,
although when considering the availability of space for the trains and the required shunting
and rearrangement of passenger stock, this seems an unlikely number! However it does
demonstrate how popular Cleethorpes had become. There is further information on visitor

numbers in Part 3 on the Sea Wall which equates to around 500,000 visitors per year in
1880.

Figure 9: Cleethorpes beach and station.
Photo: Edward Trevitt, courtesy Wendy Trevitt

Figure 10: Busy Cleethorpes Station

The above photographs, although dated just after the First World War, demonstrate the
popularity of Cleethorpes. Necessary plans were put in place to double the railway track to
Cleethorpes and enlarge the station to 6 platforms. The planning document for this was the
Manchester Sheffield & Lincolnshire Railway (New Works) dated 1880.

Figure 11: LDP/1/139 MS&LR New Works -1880
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details the upgrading of the station at Cleethorpes, by
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building five new platforms to create a six platform
station.



Further to this, new station facilities were provided at the end of the station, including
refreshment rooms and a clock tower (c.1884), by John Mann Lockerbie and Arthur
Wilkinson of Birmingham. These latter two survive, as shown below, but the other buildings
were demolished and replaced in the 1960'’s.
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Figure 12: Photos of clock tower and station refreshment rooms.

The diagram below (Fig. 13) shows the new layout of the station with six platforms and
there were also two carriage sidings. Note that the turntable is retained in this plan, but
this was removed at a later date to the west of the station together, with a signal box at
Cleethorpes. In addition, further sidings and a signal box were installed at Suggitts Lane by
1891. The additional sidings became necessary to store the procession of trains arriving at
Cleethorpes and to prepare them ready for their return journey.

It is interesting to note that Beacon Thorpe Lane (now Poplar Road) in the bottom centre of
the diagram, originally had access to the sea and that this access is marked to be closed off.
Referring back to Figure 7, this access road can be seen together with the Clee Beacon.
Note that the access roads to the station are very much as they are now. Note also that
there are very few other buildings to be seen in the plan.

Figure 13: Cleethorpes station plan 1880
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Figure 14: East of Cleethorpes station 1880
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Dolphin Hotel - Cliff Hotel

The above figure shows the area to the east of the station. This is interesting as it shows;

- The east end of the station, prior to station buildings being erected , on the far left

- The existence of a railway turntable, top left, which was later placed to the west of
the station

- Sea Road, which still exists as the road down to the pier

- The entrance to the pier, built in 1872

- The lack of any substantial sea wall (to be discussed in Part 3)

- Itterby Road — now Alexandra Road

- The area to the north of Itterby Road which was to become the pier gardens

- The Dolphin Hotel and the Cliff Hotel with very few other substantial buildings

- Sea View Street is shown to the right with a few buildings around it

The expansion of the station and the associated sidings enabled a far greater number of
trains to gain access to the resort and this situation remained until the 1960’s, with many
excursion trains arriving at Cleethorpes, especially at weekends and bank holidays. After
this period, car ownership and a significant reduction in excursion trains, post the Beeching
cuts, meant that the excursion to Cleethorpes and many resorts by train, reduced to
virtually nothing. This situation is made worse by the singling of the line from Grimsby and
the removal of sidings for storing trains. Occasional “specials” come to the resort, but other
than that “trippers” have to rely on service trains which, even now, often become over
crowded. However, there is still a large influx of people throughout the year by car and bus.
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Part 3 — The building of the Sea Wall

References are made to the documents from the national Archive in Kew;

o [Letter to the MS&LR from the Cleethorpes Urban Sanitary Authority, 27" July 1880, to
the MS&LR

e Report of meeting re Projected Improvements at Cleethorpes from the Grimsby Observer
15" Sept 1880

e Contract to build the Sea Wall — 6™ of April 1883 by the MS&LR, reference RAIL 463/126,
Construction of a Sea Wall, promenade and road at Cleethorpes: Arthur F. James

3.1 - The problem with the existing Sea Wall

The MS&LR had successfully promoted Cleethorpes as a seaside resort, but there was one
key issue with the future of the resort. The resort was built on silty alluvial soils and glacial
clay loams resulting from the Devensian glaciations. (The Devensian period is generally
known as the Last Ice Age 115,000 — 11,700 years ago). The soil and clay structure means
that the whole area is subject to constant erosion by the sea. These two pictures show the
state of the sea wall in the 1800’s.

Figure 15:

High Cliff looking east —
with the Cliff Hotel on the
. left, the Dock Tower in
the centre distance and
Clee Beacon in the right
. distance. Possibly
Dolphin Hotel centre?

Figure 16:

High Cliff looking east
with the Cliff Hotel on the
right and High Cliff Road.
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If Cleethorpes was to have a future as a seaside resort it was obvious that something
needed to be done about the sea wall. Recent history on the Yorkshire and Norfolk coasts
demonstrates how rapidly the sea can erode the shoreline.

The Cleethorpes Urban Sanitary Authority* wrote to the MS&LR chairman and directors on
July 27" 1880 about a meeting held on 15" July, (see a full copy in Appendix I1),

“Gentlemen, at the meeting of the Urban Sanitary Authority of this place held on Thursday
the 15" Inst, it was resolved upon a motion proposed by myself” (Fred A Peck, Sea View
Street) “....that a letter be addressed to the Chairman & Directors of the MS&LR Company”

..... with reference to the present state of the Recreation Ground** and the loss that is
continually going on through the action of the weather and high tides with strong N to E
winds on which it would be superfluous on my part to state being fully satisfied, that such
are well known to your chairman” (Edward Watkin) “and some of the Directors, if not all,
and the remedy to prevent this waste, or loss of the only piece of natural high ground along

the coast, being entirely beyond the powers of the Parishioners to cope with”.

“... | most respectfully make application........... to your Board as being considerably interested
in the wellbeing of Cleethorpes, as an outlet for visitors and excursionists carried by your line
of rails, particularly in the summertime & | no doubt not in the Wintertime, if attractive
indoor amusements were started on............... pardon me in asking the favour of your kindly
informing me if your Board propose taking any steps, to make the much needed
improvements, so greatly to be desired...........your granting the Committee appointed by the
Board — an interview with the Chairman and Directors of you Company......to ascertain what
assistance (if any) the Board could be to your Company — trusting to have the favour of a
reply”

The letter is signed by Fred A Peck and counter signed by Edward Ross Esq of the MS&L Rail
Co, Manchester. Edward Ross was the MS&LR Company Secretary and the folly built as part
of the new Sea Wall and gardens was named after him — Ross Castle (Figure 25).

* Note that Urban Sanitary Authorities were established in 1872 and were responsible for
various public health matters such as providing clean drinking water, sewers, street
cleaning, and clearing slum housing. They were replaced by Urban Districts in 1894.

** The Recreation Ground referred to was the area of high ground along the seafront,
where several landowners had various types of amusements.

3.2 Approval to build a Sea Wall

The next document found in the archive records, is the report of a meeting of the
Cleethorpes Sanitary Board and a public meeting, published in the Grimsby Observer on
Wednesday 15" September 1880, entitled PROJECTED IMPROVEMENTS AT CLEETHORPES.
However, it is not clear when the meeting took place, but presumably a few days before.
Appendix IV refers.
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Cleethorpes Sanitary Board Committee

A special committee meeting was held by the local Sanitary Authority Board, with Messrs.
Ayre (Chairman), Chapman, Mackrill, Rowston, Peck, W. Osbourne, Barnaby, A. Osbourne
and Smith in attendance, at the Oddfellows Hall, for the purpose of meeting Mr Fisher, the
MS&LR resident engineer.

“Mr Fisher said he believed a deputation from the Board, consisting of Messrs Peck, Moody
and Smith, had waited upon Sir Edward Watkin to ask if some steps could be taken by the
Railway Company to protect the cliff and improve the place generally, and in consequence of
what transpired at that meeting he had been directed to prepare a plan at once and submit
is to that Board......” Charles Sacre, Chief Engineer of the MS&LR was also at the meeting.

...... the deputation asked if any assistance could be rendered by the Railway Company, or
any means suggested, by which the cliff at Cleethorpes could be protected, laid out or
otherwise improved. Sir Edward asked if the deputation had anything to offer, and they
replied that they had nothing to offer except what they were justified in offering. There was
the cliff or Pleasure ground, which was parish property and they were pretty sure the parish
would be willing to turn over to the Railway Company, on condition that the latter would

7

undertake to make certain improvements........

...... They put it before him that a vestry meeting of the parishioners could be called at which
they would be able to pass a resolution authorising the overseers and churchwardens to turn

7

over this piece of land to the Railway Company.....

“...Sir Edward then asked what was the feeling of the landowners who had property
abutting the foreshore in regard to the matter, as he thought there should be a promenade

7

made of at least a mile in length.....

“..Sir Edward then suggested that this plan should be prepared and submitted to the Board,
and that enquiries should be made for the purposes of ascertaining the feeling of the
landowners interested, and whether there was likely to be any opposition. Sir Edward said
also that if a parish meeting was called he would have a letter written to be laid before it,
and he further suggested that a deputation should wait upon such owners as Mr. Thorold,
Mr Daubney and Sidney College. He promised to suggest to the directors that £30,000 or
£40,000 be spent in these improvements and he said he had no doubt that the Board would
give their support and do their best to prevent opposition, the Company would be willing to

”

provide the money and carry out such a scheme as could be agreed upon......

..... the parish should have it in their power to redeem the grounds within a limited number
of years at from 3 to 3.5% on the original outlay.....Sir Edward expressed the opinion that it

would be better for the parish to hold the property eventually”.......... ” Sir Edward intimated
that no assistance whatever would be required from the rates.”

..... Mr Fisher recommended to the favourable considerable of the Railway Company that if
possible, baths and winter recreations be provided, and the garden ground adjoining the cliff
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be included in the contemplated improvements and that the projected promenade extended
to the lifeboat station....” “.....further that a better supply of water be provided...”

“..The members of the Board afterwards expressed their thanks to Mr Fisher, and the
meeting then terminated”.

MS&LR Board Minutes

The next interesting document to be found in the archive is an extract of the MS&LR Board
minutes of 10" September 1880. A copy of this can be found in Appendix V. The meeting
was chaired by Sir Edward Watkin.

“The Chairman reported the result of his interview with the local authorities of Cleethorpes
in reference to the preservation of the cliff & grounds at that place, and plans of the
proposed scheme which was roughly estimated would cost about £20,000 were laid upon
the table.

After discussion the question was left in the hands of the sub-committee and the following
minute was adopted.:-

The board of the Manchester Sheffield and Lincolnshire Company are prepared to apply to
Parliament for powers to construct such works of protection as may preserve the cliff at
Cleethorpes and may enable the land saved to be converted into a place for recreation

”

with Baths and Waiting Rooms........
Public Meeting

The next related document in the archives (see 2" part of Appendix IV) refers to a Public
Meeting held on a Friday night (Date unknown, but presumably close to 15/09/1880) to
“test the feeling of the inhabitants in respect to the improvements to the cliff and to
Cleethorpes generally, proposed to be carried out by the MS&LR”. The meeting was
convened by Mr Peck, the chair was Rev. W. P. Jones with members of the Board, several
landowners plus “..a fairly numerous attendance”.

“....Mr Peck said that he had called them together...in order to show them what steps the
Local Board had taken towards forwarding the proposed scheme with regard to the cliff.”

....... It was afterwards intimated that Sir Edward Watkin would be at Grimsby on a certain
day, when he would be glad to confer with a deputation from the Board....”

“..now he (Watkin) wanted to impress upon the owners of land abutting on the shore, and
also every inhabitant of Cleethorpes, the importance of assisting the Railway company in
every way possible. By giving up their frontages the landowners would be doing something
for their own pecuniary benefit and also for the benefit of the Parish at large. He might tell
them that a telegram had been sent that morning from the Local Board to Sir Edward
Watkin giving him to understand that the members of the board would use their influence
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with the owners along the shore and they had no doubt that the latter would be willing to
give up their frontages, (Applause).”

There was some discussion led by Dr. Keetley about taking the building of the sea wall into
the parishioner’s hands, but......

Mr Ayre said “....If the projected improvements would cost the Railway Company £30,000 -
£40,000 they would cost the parish about £70,000, as they would have all the material to
buy and the carriage to pay for...” “.. he agreed with Mr Keetley that it was desirable to
have the works in in their own hands, but, before they would be wealthy enough for that the

cliff would be washed away”.

“...He moved that the inhabitants of Cleethorpes, as far as lay in their power, helped the
Railway Company in carrying out the proposed improvements. (Applause).”

......... Mr Fisher was called upon to explain the scheme at present put forward by the
Railway Company. He said it was proposed to make a promenade or terraced walk starting
from the new platform at Cleethorpes station which would be made in the course of the
works now proceeding and where all the lines now being laid would converge. Continuing
direct from that platform it was proposed to carry a sea wall and terraced walk so that
people might go straight away from the station towards the pier for a distance of half a mile
if they liked. The first portion of the terraced walk must necessarily end opposite the Dolphin
Hotel, because it was necessary that an opening should be there left for access to the sands.
Then there was the entrance to the pier, which must be left to the Pier Company; after which
the wall and terrace would be again carried forward without a break along the front and top
of the cliff to what was known as the Fisherman’s Road, a distance of about 600 yds” (Note
that Fishermans Road is now called Brighton Street) “where the cliff proper terminated....”

...... Really what was necessary was to protect the cliff itself, which was the property of the
inhabitants of Cleethorpes and which contained an area of something like 3 acres with the
land that would be reclaimed in building the proposed wall....... the terraced walk would be
about 15ft wide and at intervals there would be flights of stairs down to the beach.......... Mr.
A. Osbourne, as one of the small freeholders would be glad to give up his rights in the
foreshore if the Railway Company would carry out the proposed works forward to the
lifeboat house........ it was stated that there were 25 freeholders who had property abutting
on the foreshore between the cliff and the lifeboat house”.

There was also an issue in providing a good supply of water, which needed to be considered
“as the place was badly off for water....... Mr Peck said that water could be obtained from
Beaconthorpe in any quantity”. In addition Sir Edward Watkin had agreed that the supply of
water could be included in the scheme if the Parish of Cleethorpes would pay half the cost.

It was said in the meeting that “.....the railway station at Cleethorpes was simply a disgrace
to the Company, especially with regard to sanitary conveniences, which were totally
inadequate for the large number of visitors which came to the place in the summer- time.
Water works were necessary for the station and for other purposes and if the works were to
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be carried out by the Parish and the Railway Company, jointly through an act of Parliament,
it would perhaps be the best step they could take. If the proprietors of the garden grounds
adjacent to the cliff, which would be required to complete the scheme, would let the land on
lease for 90 or even 999 years, they would only be doing justice to the Parish, and what they
ought to do to make Cleethorpes a good watering place and by doing so should enhance the
value of their property.”

“The line from Grimsby to Cleethorpes was paying the Railway Company 80 to 83 per cent,
and was one of the best paying little pieces of line which they had”

Note that there were some very interesting comments in the meeting re the income for
the Railway Company from “trippers” which can be directly related to the number of
people coming to Cleethorpes. The Company was making at least 6p per head on visitors.
An annual income of £10,000 to £12,000 was being made by trippers alone (£1.4m in 2023
value) which equates to (12,000 x 240 / 6) 480,000 visitors per year. There are also quotes
from other documents claiming that 30,000 visitors came on one day in the 1880’s, a
figure which may have been inflated over the years, and seems unlikely when one
considers the capacity of trains and the station. No information can currently be found to
verify if these figures are accurate, however, there is no doubt that Cleethorpes was a
very popular “watering place” as demonstrated by the annual figures above.

There is also reference made to keeping up with investments made by other railway
companies;

........ if the Company were wise in their time they would not throw away revenue like that.
The directors of the Great Northern Railway Company had agreed to spend £170k in
improvements at Mablethorpe and Skegness, and he thought the MS&LR Company would be
neglecting their own interests and their duties to shareholders if they allowed the
opportunity of improving Cleethorpes to pass by. It was necessary to preserve the cliff, to
provide baths, reading rooms, libraries, pleasure grounds &c, and the question was whether
the inhabitants would do it themselves and keep the control of it in their own hands or allow
the Railway Company to do it for them. They thought nothing at Scarborough about
spending £100,000 or £150,000 because they found the capital returned to them again.
Unless the people of Cleethorpes kept pace with the times and gave the accommodation
required, pleasure seekers would go to other places.”

A proposal by Mr Keetley to lease some of the land to the Railway Company and charge rent
to retain the pleasure grounds was not agreed and Mr Thorold said he was willing to give up
a portion of his land to the Railway Company. “The pleasure grounds at present belonged to
the public, but in a few years there would be no pleasure grounds left. They would lose their
right in the cliff, because the sea would take it away. The matter had been talked over many
times, but it always ended up in wind.”
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With “The amendment proposed by Dr Keetley meeting with no seconder, the motion (to
proceed with the MS&LR sea wall plan) was put and carried unanimously amid applause.”

So at this point we have the local approval for the Railway Company to proceed with the
plan to build a sea wall.

3.3 — The contract to build a new Sea Wall

The proposal to build a sea wall for Cleethorpes by the MS&LR, fully supported by Sir
Edward Watkin, was agreed at the above meeting (Section 3.1). Within the national archive
is a copy of the contract, categorised as RAIL 463/126, 1883.

This contract is in two parts, The Indenture and The Specification.

These are both lengthy hand written documents, 14 pages long, see Appendix VI for an
example.

For clarity, the following figure shows an overview of the Sea Wall project from the archive,
showing the lengths of the wall in two sections shown as No.2 for 1320ft, which is from the
end of the station westwards and No.3 for 2365ft, which is from the end of the station
eastwards. There is no record of what Section No. 1 is, but may be the section of wall
towards Grimsby Docks.
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Figure 17: Overview of proposed Sea Wall
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To appreciate the size of the task, it is also worth including the following photographs, taken
in a westerly and easterly direction of the Sea Wall from the pier, in 2023, showing how the
original Sea Wall and the gardens to the west are still largely intact.

Station Clock

. Water Tower
/ / End of wall
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Figure 18: View of Sea wall in a westerly direction, towards Grimsby, taken from the pier,
2023, as in Section No.2 of the Indenture.

Site of Cliff Hotel

High Cliff

Figure 19: View of Sea Wall in an easterly direction, taken from the pier, 2023, as in Section

Brighton Street

Ross Castle

No.3 of the Indenture.
The Indenture;

“This indenture is made the sixth day of April — one thousand eight hundred and eighty three
Between the Manchester Sheffield and Lincolnshire Railway Company hereinafter called the
Company of the one part and Arthur Fuller James of 113 Victoria Street Manchester
Contractor (hereinafter called the Contractor) of the other part Whereas the Company has
agreed with the Contractor for the execution of the works hereinafter mentioned for the sum
of Twenty one thousand eight hundred and sixty two pounds seventeen shillings and six
pence and five shillings and six pence per ton for the carriage of slag from Frodingham
(Scunthorpe steel works) to Cleethorpes upon the terms and conditions and subject to the
stipulations hereinafter explained.”
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The sum of £21,862 is equivalent to £3,278,066 in 2023. There is nothing recorded in the
document about how many tons of slag were required, or the cost.

The Indenture continues for seven hand written pages and is very thorough, with a lot of
detail as to how the contract will be executed. It is the type of document one would expect
in the present time for any significant project. For example here are just a few of the
requirements in the contract;

“The Contractor shall and will substantially and in the most workmanlike manner with the
best materials and to the satisfaction of the Engineer of the Company make execute and
complete and deliver up to the Company the several works mentioned described or implied

”

in the specification hereinunder...... etc

“The Contractor shall satisfactorily complete the works mentioned................. before the
thirtieth day of April in one thousand eight hundred and eighty four...........

........ any alterations or additions to or enlargements of the said works approved by writing
under the hand of the said Engineer are hereby authorised or from any other just cause

7

arising........

...... or consequence of any unusual inclemency of the weather storms high tides or general
or Social Strikes or combinations of workmen............ it shall be lawful for the said engineer to
grant from time to time by writing under his hand such extension of time as to him may

7

seem reasonable.......

“....the Contractor to provide materials and all necessary implements moulds tackle engines
temporary timbering planking shores stages and apparatus and a sufficient number of
skilled workmen and labourers.............

..... In case the Engineer for the time being of the contract and during the progress of the
said works desire any alterations therein or any alterations............. the Contractor shall and

”

will comply with such desire from time to time......

“...the Contractor shall keep the whole of the works hereby contracted for during their
progress and for a further six calendar  months after the same have been
completed.....certified by the said Engineer........ and with all necessary reparations and
amendments whatsoever including the repair of injuries or accidents arising through the
neglect of the Contractor or his servants or arising from frost or bad weather......and shall
provide all the requisite materials and things for those purposes.”

...... the Contractor shall on the first Monday in every month during the continuance of this
agreement provide the Engineer with a detailed account of the works actually done and the

”

materials actually used......

“If the Contractor shall fail in the due performance of this contract................. he shall be
liable to pay to the Company as and for liquidated damages the sum of Ten Pounds for each
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and every week which may elapse between the appointed and actual time  of

7

completion.....

“Whenever the term “Engineer” is used in this Contract or in the specification or schedule
hereto it shall mean Charles Sacre* of Manchester aforesaid Civil Engineer”

*Charles Sacre was a prominent Victorian railway engineer, Wikipedia entry quotes ....

“In 1858, he was appointed Chief Engineer and Locomotive Engineer of the MS&LR
commencing work at their Gorton works on 1 April 1859. His employees found him a friendly
and approachable man, and he became popular with the work force. He was responsible for
an outstanding series of double framed 0-6-0 goods engines, the largest of which were a
class of sixty built in 1880-5. For the fast expresses that were being introduced on the
Cheshire Lines Railway, he designed a massive outside cylinder 2-2-2 with 7 ft. 6ins. (2.286
metre) driving wheels. Another successful design was an inside cylinder 4-4-0 with double
frames. Several of the 0-6-0 and 4-4-0 locomotives lasted in service until the 1920s. In the
realm of civil engineering, he suggested extending the then main line by a tunnel under the
Humber to Hull, but this brought him into conflict with Edward Watkin, the Company
Chairman.”

The Specification;

“Specification of works to be performed by the contractor for constructing a Sea Wall road
and promenade and other works in connection therewith on the line of coast immediately in
front of the Railway Station at Cleethorpes and the Recreation Grounds to a point in
Fishermans Road distant four and a half chains or thereabouts to the south of the point

7

where Humber Street joins High Cliff road in the county of Lincoin...........
The First Schedule refers to:

“The work comprises the construction and formation of a Sea Wall — 3,685 feet — in length
have two return walls 65 feet in length an ashphalted* parade 75 feet in width for the length
of the above named Sea Wall five sets of steps and one approach to the sands and the
necessary level channel and under drains and a roadway 45 feet wide also extending for the
entire length of the above named Sea Wall”

Note that the numbers quoted in the document are spelt out not numeric.
*Also note that we would currently spell “ashphalt” as “asphalt”.

The Schedule defines the construction in detail, mentioning sharp sand, Portland cement,
rubble, rough slag, construction of the concrete blocks for the facings in moulds, 4 inches of
coarse asphalt and 2 inches of fine asphalt.

“The first or lower four feet of the Sea Wall and the whole of the counterfoil to be composed
entirely of Portland cement concrete and rough slag and faced with concrete block as

”

hereunder specified..... “...great care to be observed in making the concrete blocks that
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they may be of such lengths or depths as to form sufficient footing for the rubble concrete”.
e blocks to be cast in moulds not less than 12” x 12” on the face and varying from 12” to
18” in depth......... ”

“The road is to be composed of a layer of Rough Slag, Brick rubbish, Hard Core, Burnt Clay or
other approved material six inches thick and is to be covered with a layer of Broken Slag six
inches in thickness.......... at a distance of twenty five feet from the surface of the coping and
for the entire length a level and channel of concrete or York Stone......... ”

“After the ground for the promenade has been filled in to the required level and properly
consolidated four inches of coarse ashphalt is to be carefully laid down and finished off with
a finer layer of ashphalt two inches thick, the whole to be well rolled with a heavy roller after
covering the surface with Hot Gas tar laid on thinly and evenly with a brush and sprinkled

7

while still hot with clean sharp dry sand or gypsum......

The following cross section shows the main elements which comprise the wall

—— CLEETHORPES INPROVENENTS —
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Interestingly the drains shown
above still exist although most
have been sealed with
concrete.

Figure 21: Exit of drain
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The second schedule refers to;

“The schedule of prices upon which the Contract is based and by which all extra or deducted
work will be added or deducted from the said amount of £21,862 17s 6p.

A bill of quantities No. 2 for the first 1320 ft of the wall.

A bill of quantities number 3 “for the Sea Wall, Road and Promenade 236 5feet long with a
return wall approach to the sands and one set of stone steps from the east end of the
Railway Sea Wall to Fishermans Road”

Both bills of quantities refer to an “Approach to the sands” and diagrams for stone steps are
also included in the specification.

-
a?

———APPROACH TO SANDS——
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-

Figure 23: Stone Steps
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Note that some residents of the resort may remember these steps, which have now mostly
disappeared. However, the remains of one set of steps near between the station and the
pier still exist.

| /A

iR

Tin £ s )

Figure 24: Remains of stone steps near the station.

Figure 25: The folly — Ross Castle, named after Edward Ross, secretary of the MS&LR.

24



Railway Station

Figure 26: The Promenade, Pier Gardens and the Pier from Ross castle, looking towards the
station in 2023.
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Part 4. A Grand Opening — July 2" 1885

On this date Prince Albert Victor officially opened the Sea Wall, Promenade and Gardens.

A1S Rovar HIGHNESS will leave Victoria Station,
Sheffield, on Wednesday, 1st July, at about
AL 5-30 p.m., and travel by Special Train to
Brocklesby, arriving at about 6-50 p.m.

@he Royal Party will leave Brocklesby at one o'clock

2 on Thursday, the 2nd July, arriving at Great Grimsby (Town

©.1% 3 I Station) at about half-past one, where they will be met by
S : | the Mayor and Corporation who will present an address.

2 Procession will be formed and proceed from the
Market Place by way of Victoria Street to the Royal Hotel,
where a halt will be made to view the Statue of the late
Prince Consort, and the Procession will then proceed by the
Cleethorpes Road to Cleethorpes.

Gcrcg)on,\‘ 4

4 o @Pcmn(‘
=t I ol g
Ihe new ln!]wovcmcnl wmﬂl’\s at’

@LEETEOP\PES

CCl)e Procession will pass by the Dolphin Hotel on to
the Itterby Road, and passing the High Cliff Road to the
Fisherman’s Road Entrance of the New Promenade, pro-

o 0
j/ils (P\o(yatj/cighnesg

dPRINCE RLBERT VICTOR,

ceed along the New Parade under the Pier, and then by way
of Sea View Road to the Pier Entrance of the High CIiff
Gardens.

T P N B A T

thc Royal Party will alight here and the Military Bands
will play the National Anthem.

@he Board of Health of Cleethorpes will present an
address.

The Royal Party will then proceed to inspect the
Gardens, and after the inspection will return to the large
flower bed, near the Entrance Gate at the Pier, in the
Gardens, where the Prince will plant a tree.

@he Prince will then declare the Gardens and Improve-
ments open.

Dianne Roberts described the event in her 2023 paper on Cleethorpes and Edward Watkin
“The Cleethorpes Panorama”, as follows;

“The 1880s saw improvements, attractions and events in plenty. Sir Edward was a nationally
and internationally renowned figure by this time and he knew how to capitalise on this. He
planned a royal visit for the official opening of the Cliff Gardens and invited HRH Prince
Albert Victor Christian Edward of Wales KG, the eldest son of the then Prince of Wales and
Princess Alexandra. The Prince had recently attained the age of 21 and was performing royal
duties independently. Prince Albert Victor was the guest of the Earl of Yarborough at
Brocklesby overnight and the opening ceremony was planned for July 2nd 1885.

Prince Albert Victor arrived in Grimsby from Brocklesby by train. The Royal Hotel was the first
stop for the procession to view the statue of the late Prince Consort which had been donated
to the town by Sir Edward Watkin. This statue was originally sited in Albert Gardens near the
Royal Hotel but is presently in front of the Dock Offices. The second stop in Grimsby was at
the corner of Tomline Street for the Prince to receive an address from the Grimsby Fisherlads
Institute. The procession then proceeded to the boundary of Grimsby and Cleethorpes where
they were met by representatives of Cleethorpes Board and escorted onwards.

The Royal Opening of the Cleethorpes Improvements was the culmination of Watkin’s vision
for the resort. The opening ceremony caused great excitement, and preparations included a
splendid display of flags of many countries along the promenade and a pavilion and stage
inside the gardens. The procession reached the Dolphin Hotel and proceeded to High Cliff
where it passed under an arch constructed from blocks of Norwegian ice. Mr Harry Starling
had created the ice arch and the design was that of Temple Bar in London. During the first
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day it lost about 4 tons due to melting but it was 2 or 3 days before the imaginative entrance
to the proceedings had disappeared completely. A band played the National Anthem as the
first carriage arrived carrying Prince Albert Victor, Earl and Countess Yarborough and Sir
Edward Watkin, and the accompanying procession included representatives of local societies
and musical bands. On Ross Castle the Royal Standard fluttered, a gun salute was fired from
the fort and the proceedings began with an address given by a representative of Cleethorpes
Board of Health. A silver and ebony ceremonial spade had been commissioned for the
occasion from Messrs. Elkington and Co., Manchester and with this spade the Prince planted
a wellingtonia gigantea tree in the Cliff Gardens close to the Grandstand and pavilion. The
band then played God Bless the Prince of Wales.

Luncheon for 200 was served in the pavilion and at its conclusion Prince Albert Victor
proposed a vote of thanks to Sir Edward Watkin. Watkin responded saying ‘The people of
Grimsby and Cleethorpes looked on him as a sort of father. There were older men than
himself in those places but there were none more anxious to promote the prosperity of the
district. He hoped that just as the prophesies of the late Prince Consort had been so
wonderfully realised in regard to Grimsby, the wishes of Prince Albert Victor for the
prosperity of Cleethorpes would also bear abundant fruit’. (Applause)”

A copy of the above paper can be found in the Edward Watkin web archives.
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Part 5. Conclusion

There is no doubt that Sir Edward Watkin and the Manchester Sheffield and Lincolnshire
Railway made a major contribution to the growth of Grimsby as a fishing port and
Cleethorpes as a seaside resort. The railway brought in thousands of “trippers” to the resort
making a significant contribution to the Railway Company profits, which in turn provided the
Railway Company with the means to invest even further into the resort. They were able to
fund a substantial Sea Wall and promenade, build the Pier Gardens and take the
management of the Pier under their control.

Further to the investments described herein, the railway was further enhanced by building
additional sidings in 1891 to store visiting trains at Suggitts Lane and provide a large signal
box and turntable at Cleethorpes station.

Work to extend the Sea Wall eastwards from Brighton Street was completed by the
Cleethorpes Urban District Council by 1905.

It is obvious from the evidence in the archives that Sir Edward Watkin had a keen interest in
developing Grimsby and Cleethorpes for the benefit of the Railway Company and the
inhabitants, so much so, that at the time he became known as “Mr. Grimsby” and “Mr.
Cleethorpes”.

After his death, the Great Central Railway (formed in 1897 when the MS&LR changed its
name when it was extended towards London) continued to develop the area by creating
Immingham Docks in 1912 and further developed Grimsby Docks.

The Grimsby and Cleethorpes area owes its growth and success to the Manchester
Sheffield & Lincolnshire Railway and in particular to the vision of Sir Edward Watkin.

;;:%QM

Stephen Richards

November 2023
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Appendices:

Appendix |

Board of Trade approval to open the Cleethorpes branch
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Appendix Il

Letter from Cleethorpes Urban Sanitary Authority to MS&LR July 27" 1880 Part 1
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Letter from Cleethorpes Urban Sanitary Authority to MS&LR July 27" 1880 Part 2
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Letter from Cleethorpes Urban Sanitary Authority to MS&LR July 27" 1880 Part 3
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Appendix Il

Request for addition of indoor recreation for the winter months and thanks to Edward

Watkin
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Appendix IV

Grimsby Observer 15 Sept 1880 report of meeting re Sea Wall and public meeting — part 1
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tion, bot with roganiwm' the oiher owners | shors. There was a falrly numeous atiendance. deraking o6 fheir 6
 wore nob I a_position to state whst their | Onthe mecting being vpened Me, Prcx said ba Loy ) ﬁ“w b
S woold bo, . iy Edward fhen soggestsd that | hud, s overseer, eallod e Uredor mai for ihae ¢ Bonigpihigipyby,
hoold bo “preparcd and sobmitiod to the | purpose of passing uoy fegad restdations, bat do § o0t I wiaid brteg %
Bo that Inquiries shoald be made for the | order 1o show (hew whiat eleps Do Lol Board Lad vii}a«‘:idi ; V{Ei' b %mm“»
purposs of nscdrtaining iha fecling of the lsodbalders taken towends forwarding tho pipesed sebomo with | (o F o Lig, ,‘:Z’m“‘n ha sher.
torcated, nisd whother thero was likely to bo suy | regwd to the olifl. 1s the fired yloos \he Tallway § L 0 o e wad that .
o fosltion: ~Bir Edward also 4aid If a parish meei. | Company were comaisieated wih by laiter, aod, 4 31 péx oonl, wha At $ow o
DDt cailod-ha: would liave & letter writtan fo bs | reply was receired utatong thstzhe letter woakd be | ooy qenaliy cush 6 ov 7 gy
o1 beforo it, and ho farster suggested that a depa. | uid Defore 1hie Glrostars. 14 waa flarwards intimated Q’«‘!ﬁ#*ﬁ‘l l’“ pwdone ik
tatlon should walt upon such awnars a3 Mr. Thoreld, | that Bir Faward Watkin would e st Grimaby ou 8 } 00876 S0 A (i
Afr; Daubaay, nod tho Sidney College. 1o promised | cerlaio dey, whsen be wondd be glad o eouler wish | 0 o ,f 3.‘;‘,2;&* f mw
izgest (o tha dirsslors that £30,000 or £40,000 | & dopuiation from o Board with regand to the | 17 B4 EE0 mu“"'“w P & 5F¢
t in those Impravemants, wh: Lo said ke hﬁ wstter izi‘quu)li s, ¢ Nr. S’«?‘;g{:rﬂmﬁ dm st b S S “’Mi
va thelr sappari, & tranepired st U inteyview with Al Bdward Wal WJW
it ’MW‘:‘* ) a8 dod above, o sfteprards lulormed e 12 vonsent of the lraeholber g E
1neeting 1at & tolugram bad Lee essived from S

PRl e

apon. © o | Rdward Watda the gjmiw; Azl uiiw; that 18
é'?zuw@ T Cnaranas Mkodrnt\pp&’;ﬁng‘tbn liff was | the rosolution which 1ed been rasiod by ths Loeal
afd ontas proposed, was [t likely there woald be s Toard and sent 10 the directos sotbiug was cald
ant a8 propo
“abnrgo b0 go apon ity - - | sbout tarning any lasd ever to bew, o of 154 feo-
2 Mr: muf:l Wad no positively. Lolders glviag pp nay of therpropenty, Now ba
ﬁm‘fnmu*f sl “thought it was~ wanted to brupress upon ko ewiers of land sbattiog
Eﬁ"tilﬁl! b w small chargo, © Bir Bdw, on ke shors, sud alsa every inbatitans of Clee
Lavor, that the Comp onld bo prepared to put & | thorpea, tho Lppartance ol ssixtiog e Rallwey
atgs I the Act ymwnl-l have: 1o bo obtained | Company in every way puddlic . Dy giviag op their
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Grimsby Observer 15" Sept 1880 report of meeting re Sea Wall and public meeting — part 2

to gee about A market thomselven. ‘They might get | MONIE DO AOULL LHE UOVHINMSNEt WA 1oL thom i A 3 >3 # vy
he Railway Cowpany, in ease the lnn(lywa» hmﬁsd havo the monoy for & or it§ por coub., and thon thay n“"f“? "f Ma :m;““%g l:f i aUld PEOPOFe. ias. AR
ovar to them, to sell them a pisce near tho OLff | could make thelr own baths, terenvos, roading rooms, | W "l‘ f;f;‘(;() I8 "“’ Iol‘Yn 0;‘“ tho garden land,
' Hotol for market grounds, ot for any other purpose | e, as well as waterworks, indepondent of the KpoRg ('k ";‘r ":" ol 'hm'( coneriot Nloir‘o 4
| whioh the Board might require. Railway Company. At tho sasmo tim if the Hailway | Whterworks. Ho did not heliove in giving railwa
1 Attor a fow other rownrks, Mr. Fisher was ealled | Uompany wers sencdy to mont thom he saew no resson :‘;""p'“l"”“ nv/rxﬁyt)un,z; thoy alwnys too oar9 11
H upou to vxplain the schomo at prosent put forward | why they should et pull togother, The inhiabitants !"""m :';\"'” I'hoy waro obliged o do something® a
by the Raeilway Cowpany. Ho said il was proposed | woukld no douht veap s wrent deal of honafit from A ay Li ﬂ?imvm}:ﬂ you ""0“"0"’0‘1‘ or it would bo
to make a promenado or borraced walk startivg from | thess tmprovenients if they were sareied ant, hut it "",".’nrwsm by obhior "lm""" o
the new platform at Claothorpos station whioh would | was fmperative in the Reilway Company that they | Vhe Guatisnst sald bo Lind soon Mr, Thorold that
be mmle?n the course of the works ow proveeding, | shonld do semething  He thonglit s(mt the railway ""ﬂv’,"”“ AUl riok balk the matter over with him wo ug
and whero all the lines now being Inid would von. | station at Cloatlorpes wi shimply o digeaon 1o tho | ¢ "i‘i" hls ?f“ viow of the anso, bat from what wag
verge.  Contibulng diveet from shat platfurm it | Cowmpany, espectally with regard Lo wanitiry oon A f"“ nndarataod thig Mf: Fhoreld would be willin
| wae proposed to carry a son wall and tortaved wallk, | venivneow, whish wers fotuily findoquate for the | 2080 ",“"”“"‘ ailway Gompany tho portion of hig 8
i an t{mt poople might go straight sway frome the | Wargo nnobor of visitoo whieh same to the plane lane whink waa roquired,  Tha pleasnrs grounds at
station towarda tho pier, nnd bayond tor tho distanos | e simer-tiue, Watorwsrks wore nosmnry fop | PPOS0RE bolongod 1o tha pablio, but in & fow g'mn
of half a mile if thoy liked.  The flvst portion of the | thab wtabivn sud for other porposes, and Hf tho works ther would ha no plawsiire groands laft. Thay
tarraved watk wngt neocesaarily ond opposite the [ eonkd bo enrvied ol by the parish and the Bailwsy woitld fane tholy ”"J""}' the eliff, because the sen F8
Dolphin Hotel, becanse it was nooossary that ai | Company conjolntly throsgh su Aot of Parlinmont, woull takr 1L wony. ho maltor had haon tulked 2
opening shoultl (hore bo toft for Acoesn to bho sanids, | it would ho porlaps the busk wtop they could tuka, | o0 T8 tirmou, bt it lind ulwaya endod in wind,
'I‘Tw &om was the entranee to tho pier, whioh | M the proprictors of tho gwdon groundi adjaoont io Fhe pariuh bud boen able 0 borrow a littls ronay,
must be loft to the Pier Company ; after which the | the ollfl which would bo yeqniead ts complata the and Lo pay tha intarast with somo diffoulty,  OF
wall and terrace wonld bo again oarried forward | sohome would fet tie Innd on lowte for 99 or qyen | *OUC the Kailway Gninpuriy bopud to reap advan-
without break along the front and top of tho gliff to | 080 yoars, they woeulid only be doing justise o the tngou, or thay wonld siot ourno. forwsrd, bub they
what was kuown as the Fishermonw's-road, a distanos | pavivh, wind what they ought fo do o wake Clan. mm‘lo U offur b0 havo a cluisa nvorted 1o the Ast
of wbout 600 yds., where the ohiff proper torminatod. | thorpes i wood waleriog phaso, aid by wo doing they of Parlnent waking it posutble for the parish 46§
Beyond that point down to the lifeboat stution the | would cnbuneo the valus of thetr proparty. Pl | T80 thoir rights wome time, He ""’",“m thoy
shore was already protected.  Ho belioved they | line from Grimishy Lo Cloothorpos wan puying tiw | *1011 gi¥o thoir assistanco o tho leilway Company. &
were ail swall freoholders who owned that propecty, | Railwuy Campmny from 86010 85 por sont, and wan An for borrowing £3000 to upond on fi"(’ eliff, why it
and he thought he might say thot the Railway | ono of the bost paying Hitls pioces of liue whish | 70 n0biog, (Mr. J. O, Chapman : The tide would
Company did vot with to interfore with those pooply | they had. 11 the Company only wale sixpones per winli it awny inan hour)  As for Searborough and
and their rights, unless the frooholdors thomselves | liead on tho vikitors that eamge b Cles thorpes ik )f”“m“"' it was Jdio to compnre those places with
were desiroue that they should do so.  Roally what | brewght them an inooms of £10,000 or £12,000 a Clonthorpas. Hanrborough wos rated at samething
WAL MCeSIBTY  Was o protact tho oliff itself, which | yemr by tvippors slone, wnd if the Company wors liko £100,000 5 your, Jt the Rallway C"mp,“”
was the property of the inbabitants of Cloethorpes, | Wis in their time thoy would 5ok throw n ravenue | COMtruetod & plonsant promonnde and provided
aud whiel contained au avea of something ke 3 | like that nwny. Tho divectoraof the Groat Northern other thrm:warm ho saer no feagan why the inbabi-
aores with thoe land which would be reclatmed in | Rail Comprny had agreed Lo apend £170,000 in tans of Clesthorpes shonld nhjed® to & sroall chargs
buifding tho proposed wall. The presont wrea of | improverents ut Mablethorpe aud Skegnoss, nad he being made, It tho trippors who came to that place
she eliff was about a. Ir. Ip. With the back brought | thouglt the Mauchestor, Shoflickd, awd Linoolus could not afford to pay why they were betler without
out they would gain about an acre.  He was not in | Company would be negleoting their own intorosts thiom.  (Hosr, hoar.} s s b
8 position to say whether it was intended, in case | and their duties to the sherehalders if thoy allowed Mr. Ay hogped leavs te w’}hdr“" his name s
the improvements were carried out, to make a small | the opportuaity of improving Glecthorpes to paks by. sacondor of Mr. I, 0. Chopraan’s motion, oxplaing
charge for adwission fo the promenade. The | It was necessary to prosorve the eliff, to provide that he did wo simply beoanse ho thought it w
terraced walk would be 15 ft. wide, and at intervals | bathe, reading roows, by pleasure grounds, bo much hotter if some one unconneeted with tHe
thers would be flights of steps down o the besch. | &u., and the question was ior the inhabitant, | P0eal Board would second it. 4
1fshe Company did eventually undertake to earry | would do it themselves, and keep the eontrol of it ‘“ Fuurit thereupon scconded the motion. ¢
the promenade further than they now proposed, they | in their own hands, or allow the Railway Company The araendwment praposcd by Dr. Keetley meeting
wouid probably ssk the freeholders to give them the | to do it for them. Thoy thought nothing nt Sear. | Wikl 2o #econder, the motion was put and csrried
foreshore. 3 borough mbout spending £100,000 or £150,000, | Wnimoeusly awid epplanse. SRR
Mr. Sxrri suggesied that the freaholdars migkt | becanse thoy found ihe oapital returned to t‘hmt; Votes of thanks wera afterwards mecorded to Mr.
petition she Railway Company to carry the woirks | again. Unless the people of Cleetuorpes kepi pace Peck for the services he had hitherto rendersd in
forward. with the times, and gave the sccommodation re. | th¢ Matter, to the chairman, Dr. Keetley, snd Mr.
Mr. A. Osponxg, 88 ove of the small freeholders, | quired, pleasure rovkers would go > other pﬂxces A » #nd the meeting thep termi d: 5
would be glad to give up bis rights in the foveshore | There was a third course open to them. 'l‘[ney migh{ i
if the Railway Company would carry the proposed | join the Hailway in carrying out works of improve.
works forward to the lifeboat housa. ment. For his part, however, he should be pluck;
In reply to a question from Mr. Bar¥asy, Mr. | enough to horrow the money required and lay itéu{
Fiseer said the other terraced walk on theplan was | on their own parish. The monoy would be well
intended ta be at the top of the cliff, butthis and | spent. Itconld be obtained from the Government
other details were better left until the Jan question | at 3 per cent., aud then no one would be in authority
was settled. but themselves. With rogard to the watersvorks, ha
It was stated that there were 25 fresheders who | thought ali sanitary matters should be in the hands
had property abutting on the foreshors btween the of the local authority. Let them keep thesa warks
end of the cliff and the lifeboat hguse. h in their own hands, or if not prepared to do that
The Crarryax observed that the obtming of a | the next best thing was to carry thom out &s co.
good supply of water should be considerl in con. | partners with the Railway Uompany. The water.
nection with the proposed improvemeis, as the | works must be constructed before loog, and they
place was badly off for water. would involve an outlay of some £3000 or so. In
Mr. Sa1ra said the matter was referre to at the | conclusion he suggested that about half a dozen
interview with Sir Edward Watkin, au Mr. Peck | porsons should be selected to act in eoncert with
then said that water conld be obtained fra Beacon. | the Loeal Board, and that they should ;neet the
thorpe in any quantity. He (Mr. Sith) also | dircotors of the Railway Company, and have the
understood that the Grimsby WaterworlCompany | wiole thing Larmoniously telked over, As the
would undertake to supply them if the impvements | Lucal Board was only forned for sunitary purposes

Pir

were proceeded with he thought, in & matter of this sort, other ish.
The Coarmsiax They are pot able to Go; they | loners should act with them, (.‘\yj‘;ls’xu:al.l)m phne
have been applied to. Mr. Avne (ehairman of the Local Board) was

Mr. Rurra @ I believe they would be glito do it. | calied upon to address the me 7 id

Mr. Prck said it was put to Bir Edwathat the | only eame thero as a listeuor, lu?\ln;"%x‘vulﬂneots?;;hbg
Grimsby Waterworks Company had offere convey | to interfore in any wity with the proveedings. He
water for their nke at 8d. per thou%g.nd lons to | understood that the sﬂnpla objeet of that n);aeli 3
the foot of tho hx}.l. but several experiencersons | was to ascertain whether tho p:u-i»ah were willin, tu h
on the Board eaid thero was plonty of We to bo | this scheme proposed by the Railway Oom ué‘ :ﬂ
had ot Bt{:&mihnrpe,xf the necessary apPaces for | be carried out without opposition. If the }‘:uil{- v
distributing it were only provided. Bildward | Company were going to spend £40,000 or £50, 033)1
answered thai & supply of water conld b?cludod as Mr. Peck had stated for the lmnn'ﬁt of the m-'irsl
in the proposed scheme if the parish of Chorpes | of goursa thoy would not do it nnless they t;x];sectn'i
would undertake to pay half the cont, & considerable benofit from it. It remained for thl«s

Mr. Crapuan said be had made a carelatimate purishioners to say whother or not they wonld give
of the probable cost to tho parish of viding | up their rights to this plonsnre gronud, and mlﬁnil
machinery, applianees, &o. for & supply of % frou | 1o pay when they wonl upon it the sume a8 othor
Beaconthorpe, and he had eome to the ygign people, for the sube of the gonerel benotit of u‘
that such works would involve avolmrga 0120 n | parish,  With roferanes (o tho puriahi bovrowi h:
yeur apon the rates. He thought it wffnfd busper | woney eud minking the hoprovements t,lmnmulv‘.‘..h
for the Bonrd if waterworks could heinclady the | he would ask Mr. Kootloy whid smaunt of Tuenoy ;ln'.
At which the Railway Kropoml to obtain. Corporntion of Urimuby hnd horrowad Mlouuthb};‘ »

The Cuamnuan also thought if the Hallwop,. ¥ Ky roplied that Uritsby hud only ono

4 N
f‘;. ‘1 / C
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Appendix V

Extract from MS&LR Board minutes 10" September 1880 — part 1
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Extract from MS&LR Board minutes 10" September 1880 — part 2
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Appendix VI

Extract from the Sea Wall contract with Arthur Fuller James part 1
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Extract from the Sea Wall contract with Arthur Fuller James part 2
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Extract from the Sea Wall contract with Arthur Fuller James part 3
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